#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1309 Lower Tribunal: 16-1992-CF-004174-AXXX-MA Division: CR-E

#### JOHN LOVEMAN REESE,

#### Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF**

JEFFERSON W. MORROW, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 369136 1301 Riverplace Blvd., Suite 2600 Jacksonville, FL 32207 P: (904)399-5626 F: (904)399-5980

Attorney for Appellant John Loveman Reese

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On May 14<sup>th</sup>, 1992, John Loveman Reese was indicted by a Duval County Grand Jury for First Degree Murder and Sexual Battery, and Burglary of Charlene Austin (R.14). Mr. Reese was tried before a jury on March 18<sup>th</sup>, 1993, and was convicted as charged. The Penalty Phase portion of the trial was held on May 14<sup>th</sup>, 1993, and after the jury instructions and deliberations the jury returned with an advisory verdict recommending the Death Sentence by a vote of eight to four (8-4) (TR.1492). The same jury that heard the evidence in the Guilt Phase also heard the evidence in the Penalty Phase. Subsequent to the jury's recommendation of death, the trial court sentenced Mr. Reese to death for First Degree Murder (TR.1508-1513, R.382-384).

Mr. Reese timely sought direct appeal to this court. This court affirmed Mr. Reese's convictions and death sentence. On appeal to the Supreme Court, this court held that the trial judge failed to expressly evaluate the mitigating evidence, as required by <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2<sup>nd</sup> 415 (Fla.1990). <u>Reese v. State</u>, 694 So.2<sup>nd</sup> 678,684 (Fla.1997). The opinions noted that mitigation was offered "which was apparently unrebutted." The court remanded for entry of a new sentencing order expressly weighing the evidence offered in mitigation. Judge Haddock

resentenced Mr. Reese on April 17<sup>th</sup>, 1997, by entering a new written sentencing order, without holding a hearing. The judge received the sentencing memorandum from the State (but not from the Defendant) before entering a new order. On appeal of the resentencing order, This Court again remanded in directing the trial court to "conduct a new hearing, giving both parties an opportunity to present argument and submit sentencing memoranda before determining appropriate sentence." <u>Reese v. State</u>, 728 So.2<sup>nd</sup> 727 (Fla.1999). On April 28<sup>th</sup>, 1999, Judge Haddock held a new hearing at which both parties presented argument. Prior to the hearing, the State and Defense submitted sentencing memoranda. On June 16<sup>th</sup>, 1999, the judge reconvened the parties and filed a new sentencing order resentencing Mr. Reese to death (TR.118-155). The Court found three (3) aggravating factors:

1.) The homicide was committed during a burglary and sexual battery;

2.) The homicide was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel;

3.) The homicide was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner.

The Court found no statutory mitigators. Trial counsel waived lack of significant prior criminal history as a statutory mitigator. The Court weighed the non-statutory mitigators and made the following findings:

2

1.) The Court rejected the mitigator that the Defendant was adaptable to prison life;

2.) The Court found the Defendant had a good jail record, but gave this minimal weight;

3.) The Court rejected the evidence of childhood trauma, other than the death of the Defendant's mother, and gave that little weight;

4.) The Court found the Defendant had positive character traits, but gave that minimal weight;

5.) The Court found the Defendant supported Jackie Grier and her children, but gave that finding little weight;

6.) The Court found the Defendant's possessive relationship with JackieGrier, but assigned very minimal weight;

7.) The Court rejected the mitigator that the Defendant was emotionally or mentally impaired at the time of the murder;

8.) The Court found that the Defendant was emotionally immature, but gave that little weight;

9.) The Court rejected the mitigator that the Defendant was using crack cocaine at the time of the murder;

10.) The Court found the Defendant may have been using drugs and alcohol around the time of the murder, but gave that little weight;

<sup>3</sup> 

11.) The Court found the Defendant had no significant record of prior criminal convictions, but gave that slight weight;

The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on March 5, 2001. <u>Reese</u> <u>v. Florida</u>, 532 U.S. 910 (2001).

Mr. Reese filed his Amended Post Conviction Motion on April 1, 2002. A <u>Huff</u> hearing was held in Circuit Court and the lower court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing on some of the factual claims asserted in Mr. Reese's post-conviction motion and denying the balance. (R. 407). An evidentiary hearing was held in this case on September 28, 2006. The evidentiary hearing was continued and completed on October 19, 2006. After the hearing, both Mr. Reese and the State submitted written closing arguments, (R. 447-490). The lower court denied Reese's Motion for Post Conviction Relief on 6/27/07 (R. 491-499). This appeal follows.

## II. TRIAL TESTIMONY – GUILT PHASE AND PENALTY PHASE

The testimony at trial established that John Reese had been together with his girlfriend, Jackie Grier, for approximately seven (7) years before the murder occurred. The murder victim, Charlene Austin, was a close friend of Jackie Grier, (John Reese's girlfriend), (TR.642). There was testimony developed at the trial level that John Rees became very possessive and jealous of the relationship (TR.645). Several times Jackie Grier thought about leaving Mr. Reese. Mr. Reese felt threatened when that occurred and became emotional (TR.648). The couple met in Anniston, Alabama, where they both worked, and Mr. Reese helped support Jackie and her children. Jackie Grier lost her job and John's paycheck was not enough for the family so Jackie Grier decided to move to Jacksonville, Florida, where she had family (TR.649). John Reese stayed in Anniston, but soon joined Jackie Grier later in Jacksonville, to try to start the relationship again. Jackie Grier suspected John was using drugs (TR.651). Jackie met Charlene Austin (victim) and they became close friends. Charlene Austin was popular among men and she and Jackie began spending lots of time together and would frequently go to clubs together (TR.652). Jackie Grier testified there was tension when Charlene Austin would come by the house and John was there. He felt threatened by the relationship between Jackie Grier and Charlene Austin (TR.653).

Trial testimony also indicated there was domestic violence that occurred between Jackie Grier and John Reese (TR.1002). Charlene Austin and Jackie Grier eventually each met soldiers at the Officer's Club at Fort Stewart, Georgia, where they traveled to on weekends to party (TR.657). Jackie Grier and Charlene Austin went to Georgia the weekend before Charlene was killed. They left on Saturday, January 25<sup>th</sup>, 1992, and returned on Monday, January 27<sup>th</sup>, 1992 (TR.619).

5

On Wednesday, January 29<sup>th</sup>, 1992, Jackie Grier became worried because she was not able to reach Charlene Austin by phone. She went to Charlene's house and found her body in the bedroom, face down, covered only with a bedspread (TR.629). When Jackie returned home John Reese was in the bedroom. He would not come out and meet Charlene Austin's parents (TR.635).

Crime scene forensic evidence was also introduced at the trial. Press-on nails were found on the coffee table and under the body (TR.719). An electric extension cord was around her neck. The cord was folded in half and looped twice around her neck (TR.740). A palm print was lifted from the footboard of the bed (TR.742). An autopsy performed by the medical examiner Dr. Arruza showed that Charlene Austin had been dead 24-36 hours before the body was discovered (TR.788). She died of strangulation. Dr. Arruza found internal hemorrhaging in the neck areas and a fracture in the neck area (TR.762). Intact sperm was also found in the victim's vagina (TR.772).

The palm print was identified by a finger print expert as similar to John Reese's palm print and Detective Thorwart brought in Mr. Reese for questioning (TR.807). After his rights were read, John Reese stated he had never been in Charlene Austin's house, or had sex with her, and signed a statement to that effect (TR.869-870). After that statement, Detective Thorwart told Mr. Reese his prints had been found inside the house. Jackie Grier was then brought into the interview room and Jackie Grier told Mr. Reese to tell the truth, and then she left the room (TR.918). John Reese confessed the details of the crime to the detectives. He stated he went to Charlene Austin's house to talk to her about traveling with Jackie all the time leaving him to watch her kids and that it was causing a problem in their relationship. He stated that when he got there no one was at home so he used a knife to open the back door and waited in a closet in the back bedroom (TR.879-920). Charlene Austin then arrived home around four o'clock p.m., and he waited in the closet for her to go to sleep which occurred around ten o'clock (TR.920). He stated he waited for an hour, then came up behind her and grabbed her around the neck and had sex with her (TR.883). He then pushed her to the floor and choked her with an extension cord that was on the floor (TR.886).

During the Guilt Phase, and prior to the Penalty Phase, Mr. Reese was called to the stand. He admitted to breaking into her house and having sex with her and killing her. He testified he found the extension cord, looped it around her neck, and pulled twice, then let go (TR.962). He also testified about his childhood, and in particular, he testified that when he was seven (7) years old he entered his parent's room and a butcher knife lay on the floor broken into two (2) pieces, and he found his mother on the floor stabbed to death. He could not find his father. His father was found the next day (TR.941). His father was sent to a mental institution and John Reese never saw him again (TR.948). Following his mother's death he went to live with his mother's brother, Marvin Smith, in Anniston, Alabama (TR.948). He was not allowed to play sports or have friends and was whipped frequently (TR.949). When he was in high school, Mr. Reese went to live with his father's brother, Grover Reese, and his wife, Ernestine. Once there he was allowed to play sports, have friends, and allowed to travel to different places. After high school he went to the Job Corps in Kentucky and learned a painting trade, and then returned to Anniston (TR.950). Later he met Jackie Grier at a night club and they struck up a relationship. He often told her she reminded him of his mother because she was always there for him and they were close. (TR.952). He testified he took care of Jackie's kids and loved her and would give her his paycheck (TR.952).

Mr. Reese was often left with the responsibility of caring for the children. Jackie Grier had asked him to go out partying a few times, but she knew that he did not want to do that. He did not care for clubs anymore and wanted to stay home and take care of the house and children (TR.954). John Reese tried out for the Jacksonville Blazers Football Team during the period of time Jackie had been traveling to Georgia with Charlene. Mr. Reese and Jackie Grier starting having communication problems and John would speak very harshly to her and leave the house. During one time that Jackie was traveling to Georgia, Mr. Reese left and stayed with a friend for approximately a month. He returned to Jackie after a month and they discussed trying to stay together (TR.956).

8

A month or so before the homicide, John Reese was very upset and people kept asking him why he didn't try to find out why Jackie was traveling so much. He decided to talk to Charlene so he went to her house and opened the back door with his pocket knife (TR.959). His intent when he entered the house was to wait until she arrived and talk to her to get information about Jackie. He believed that Charlene was interfering in their relationship because Jackie and Charlene were always together and he felt like Charlene was taking the person he loved away from him (TR.960).

After Mr. Reese broke into Charlene's house he waited for her and watched television. Around 4 o'clock he looked out the window and saw Charlene approaching the apartment and hid in the bedroom. Charlene watched television for awhile and then went to bed (TR.961). Mr. Reese was still debating on how to leave the apartment. He could not leave the bedroom because of the burglar bars, so he waited for her to go to sleep. When he thought she was asleep, he opened the door, saw what he thought was movement and got scared. He ran to her and grabbed her around the neck to keep her from screaming, but was so upset he did not let go. At this point Mr. Reese forced sexual intercourse and then killed Charlene.

After he left the apartment Mr. Reese went to Winn-Dixie and called Jackie Grier to see if she knew anything. Jackie wanted him to get some groceries and Mr. Reese got home around 7:30 p.m., and ate dinner with Jackie. Mr. Reese was asked what was going through his mind when he was killing Charlene Austin and he replied, "Everything. I was very emotional mentally. I done lost it. To me, it seemed like I had blacked-out, just lost control. Just lost control of the situation." (TR.963). On cross-examination the prosecution asked him why he raped Charlene Austin and he replied, "I don't know, sir. Sir, I don't know how my reaction was sir. I was lost, okay, I was lost, I can't say what…" (TR.976).

After the conviction, the Penalty Phase part of the trial occurred. Dr. Harry Krop, a forensic psychologist, testified during the penalty phase of the trial. He testified that John Reese was of below average intelligence and that he did not have an anti-social personality disorder or other major mental illness (TR.1206). The homicide was out of character for Mr. Reese, but could be explained by a number of factors related to John's traumatic childhood (TR.1208). His father was mentally ill and a paranoid schizophrenic. He became so severely mentally ill that he stabbed Mr. Reese's mother to death. After Mr. Reese met Jackie and had a relationship with her, he became desperate to find an explanation as to why the relationship was not working (TR.1211). His coping skills were not effective. He tended to be dependent on alcohol and drugs and started using crack cocaine regularly four to five nights before the homicide. He was using crack cocaine on the day of the offense (TR.1212). Dr. Krop concluded that John Reese's mental

state was essentially seriously impaired when he killed Charlene Austin, based upon his emotional distress plus the effects of the alcohol and cocaine (TR.1217). Dr. Krop testified that the crack cocaine was immediate and had a dramatic effect on a person's thinking, which intensified whatever emotions were already present (TR.1218). This created poor impulse control. Dr. Krop testified that the murder of his mother by his father was traumatic and contributed to the rape and murder of Charlene Austin. These types of trauma can shape an individual's personality over time (TR.1248).

Certain members of John Reese's family testified during the Penalty Phase of the trial. Christian Cunningham and Dorothy Robinson, John's maternal aunts, described his early years. In January of 1973, John was approximately seven years old when his father killed his mother and his father was sent to a mental institution and later froze to death in an abandoned house (TR.1271). When John Reese, (at age seven), would say his Daddy killed his Momma, the family told him that his mother was not his real mother because he was adopted and they thought this would make him feel better. Afterwards, the oldest brother-in-law was entrusted to take custody of John Reese and was very strict and John was whipped frequently. Around the age of fifteen, John then went to live with Grover and Ernestine Reese (TR.1317). Ernestine testified that she had not seen John Reese while he was living with his mother and father, except at his father's funeral. John Reese and Grover developed a father-son relationship. John participated in sports and helped around the house. In 1983, John Reese was present when Grover died of a massive heart attack. John performed CPR on him and then watched him die. It was like John Reese had lost another father (TR.1320). John's second grade teacher, Arlene Taylor, also testified that he was a great student in school and she remembered him because he was an outstanding child. She also remembered the trauma he suffered when his mother was murdered. He came to school several days after the murder of his mother to get his records and books. He was very sad and told her that he was going to Alabama on a train and his mother was going on a different train (TR.1380).

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS**

Dr. Miller was admitted as an expert in forensic psychiatry. Dr. Miller evaluated John Loveman Reese on May 11, 2004, (R.659). After investigating the case, the file, and interviewing Mr. Reese and reviewing medical opinions and reports by other experts, including the State's expert witnesses, Dr. Miller testified that there was sufficient mitigation from a psychiatric standpoint that further consideration might be given to whatever penalties might come forth as a result of the action in which he was engaged (R.660-661). More significantly, Dr. Miller testified that Mr. Reese was suffering under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime (R.684). This statutory mitigator was not presented to the jury. Moreover, the basis and predicate for this statutory mitigator would be clear to any reasonable jury. Mr. Reese's mother was murdered in front of him by his father, he was the product of a natural mother who was a drug addict, and he was under the influence of cocaine during the night of the crime. The emotional disturbance came from the cumulative effects of long standing stresses in his life resulting in chronic anxiety and depression for which he treated himself with street drugs. That represented the underlying stress and the immediate stressor was that Mr. Reese was threatened with either real or imagined loss of love by object upon which he was dependant (R.684).

It is the holding of psychiatrists and psychologists that any individual at any given point in time is the sum total product of everything they have experienced, especially stressful experiences. Dr. Miller saw stresses in this particular case involving Mr. Reese (R.661). In the Reese case, Dr. Miller found approximately ten (10) stressors that he outlined for the court.

First, Mr. Reese was the product of a natural mother who was a drug addict. The fact that his mother used street cocaine is a stressor of itself in that it produces vascular effects in the brain of the unborn child which have significant effects later on in life. Secondly, at age seven (7) he was the witness of the traumatic death of his mother at the hands of his father and remembers running for help to find assistance for her and holding her hand.

Third, he went to live with his adoptive mother's brother who was an extremely abusive man and Mr. Reese suffered abuse from his hands, but whom Mr. Reese also witnessed in death and for whom Mr. Reese has guilty feelings, rightly or wrongly.

The fourth stressor was the overwhelming guilt he experienced after witnessing the death of his uncle, who had raised him.

Fifth stressor was that there was no history of him being abusive to animals or of him setting fires or having arsenal tendencies. These features are extremely important in a person who develops anti-social personality.

The sixth issue was that he has been able to establish ongoing and continuous relationships with females for more than 2 years. Normally in the psychiatric field a psychopathic has great difficulty and does not normally hold continuous relationships with females.

Seventh, was that he has held various jobs of pro-social nature for an extended period of time.

The eighth issue was that his criminal history was insignificant in that he only had a history of misdemeanors.

The ninth issue was that he has been given to a conspicuous use of alcohol and intensive use of cocaine.

Finally, during the interview with Mr. Reese, Dr. Miller did not have any indication of Mr. Reese trying to manipulate him or embellishing psychological issues to impress Dr. Miller.

Dr. Miller concluded that his diagnosis was that Mr. Reese does suffer personality disorder but not of an anti-social type. He also believed Mr. Reese showed signs of depression and anxiety which was chronic and long standing (R.663).

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