IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN LOVEMAN REESE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-1309

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

not deficient where the defendant had been examined prior to trial by mental health experts and the defendant was simply able to secure a more favorable diagnosis in post-conviction.");

This Court may also affirm because Reese failed to present any evidence at the evidentiary hearing that was not largely cumulative to the testimony that trial counsel presented at trial. Accordingly, Reese cannot meet Strickland's prejudice prong. Rhodes v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S 190 (Fla. Mar. 13, 2008) (Rhodes cannot demonstrate prejudice because any testimony the additional witnesses would have provided would have been cumulative to that provided by the witnesses at resentencing).

At the evidentiary hearing, Reese presented no significant additional mental mitigation. Dr. Miller's testimony, albeit essentially discounted by the collateral court, added almost nothing new to the testimony presented by trial counsel at Reese's penalty phase proceeding.

For instance, Dr. Miller testified at the evidentiary hearing that there were at least five major stresses that contributed to Reese's behavior on the night of the murder. These included: (1) he was the product of a mother who was a drug addict, (2) he was a witness at age 7 to the traumatic death of his adoptive mother at the hands of his adoptive father, (3) he lived thereafter with his adopted mother's brother who was an abusive and punitive man, (4) he witnessed

the death of that same uncle, and (5) he has used alcohol and cocaine extensively. (PCR Vol. IV 661-663). Dr. Miller also testified that Reese has impulse control problems when he uses cocaine. (PCR Vol. IV 679).

At trial, Dr. Krop testified about all but one of these stresses at great length. Dr. Krop also testified that Reese's relationship with Jackie Grier provided the flashpoint for this murder.

At trial, Dr. Krop testified that Reese never knew his biological parents. His mother was 13 years old. When he was seven he lost both of his adoptive parents. His adopted father stabbed his adopted mother. (TR Vol. XV 1208). Reese saw his mother's body. His father was placed in a mental hospital. Reese never had contact with his father after that. Reese's adopted father died, homeless, from exposure. (TR Vol. XV 1209).

Dr. Krop testified that after his father was committed, he went to live with an uncle who was very strict. He did not allow Reese to live as a child. (TR Vol. XV 1209). At the age of 14, Reese went to live with another uncle. This uncle was loving and supportive. Reese lived with him for about two or three years. Reese quit school to work because his uncle got sick. (TR Vol. XV 1210). He joined the Peace Corps but came back home to provide financial support to his aunt and uncle. His

uncle died the day he returned of a heart attack. Dr. Krop characterized this as Reese having yet another individual, for whom he cared, taken away from him. (TR Vol. XV 1210).

Dr. Krop told the court that Reese got married, then discovered his wife was a drug addict. Reese's search for a loving stable relationship culminated in Reese meeting Ms. Grier. In effect, she became everything to him. (TR Vol. XV 1211).

Reese perceived the relationship much differently than did Ms. Grier. According to Dr. Krop, Reese was desperate to stay in the relationship. (TR Vol. XV 1211). The fact that Ms. Grier tried to end the relationship several times led to Reese's continued frustration and desperation. This frustration, in Dr. Krop's view, led up to murder. (TR XV 1212). Reese sought answers from the victim that he was not getting from Ms. Grier. (TR Vol. XV 1213).

Dr. Krop described Reese as insecure and non-assertive. These traits make it difficult for Reese to express the way he feels. (TR Vol. XV 1214-1215). Reese's frustrations and anger build up because he is not an assertive person. An inability to vent or express his strong feelings to others causes eventual eruption. (TR Vol. XV 1215).

Reese tends to become dependent on drugs and alcohol. He started using crack cocaine regularly and on the day of the

murder, used cocaine. Cocaine would intensify Reese's anger, rage, paranoia, and frustration. (TR Vol. XV 1218). According to Dr. Krop, Reese's cocaine use dramatically impaired Reese's ability to think clearly. (TR Vol. XV 1218).

Dr. Krop told the jury that John Reese was a product of his environment. (TR Vol. XV 1216). Dr. Krop testified Reese had a good potential to function well in prison.

In Dr. Krop's opinion, Reese's mental state was seriously impaired at the time of the offense. (TR Vol. XV 1216-1217). Reese was "scared, frustrated, all the anger and all the frustrations and rejection that he has experienced in life, basically, just came out at one time." (TR Vol. XV 1213-1214). In Dr. Krop's view, Reese lost control on the day he murdered Charlene Austin. (TR Vol. XV 1213).

When comparing Dr. Miller's "new" testimony to Dr. Krop's trial testimony, the only thing that Dr. Krop did not testify to was that Reese's mother was a drug addict who used cocaine in utero. However, Dr. Miller did not have any objective evidence that this was the case. His only source of this information was Reese himself. (PCR Vol. IV 680-681).

Counsel is not ineffective for failing to present evidence that is largely cumulative to that actually presented at trial. Marquard v. State, 850 So.2d 417, 429-30 (Fla. 2002) ("[C]ounsel

is not required to present cumulative evidence."). The collateral court's order should be affirmed.

ISSUE II

WHETHER FLORIDA'S RULES OF PROCEDURE THAT PROHIBITED REESE FROM INTERVIEWING JURORS VIOLATES REESE'S FIRST, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS UNDER THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

In this claim, Reese alleges that Florida's rules of procedure, which prohibit him from interviewing jurors, are unconstitutional. Reese takes issue with two rules; Rule 3.575, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, and Rule 4-3.5(d)(4), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. Reese contends that while "journalists, academics, and lawyers not connected to the case" may interview jurors at will, he may not do so. Reese claims this "different and unequal" treatment violates his right to equal protection. (IB 45-46).

This claim may be denied for at least two reasons. First, the claim is procedurally barred. Claims challenging juror interview rules can, and should be, raised on direct appeal. Because Reese failed to do so, the collateral court properly denied Reese's claim as procedurally barred. Israel v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S 211 (Fla. 2008); Rose v. State, 774 So.2d 629, 637 n.7 (Fla. 2000)(holding that Rose's attack on the constitutionality of the Florida Bar Rule of Professional

Conduct governing interviews of jurors is procedurally barred because Rose could have raised this issue on direct appeal).

This claim may also be denied because this Court has specifically rejected the same claim Reese has made here. In Barnhill v. State, 971 So.2d 106, 116-117 (Fla. 2007), defendant argued that rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.575 violate his constitutional right of equal protection and deny him adequate assistance of counsel in pursuing his postconviction remedies. This Court rejected Barnhill's argument, citing to numerous decisions in which the Court has concluded that rule 4-3.5(d)(4) and rule 3.575, which collectively restrict an attorney's ability to interview jurors after trial, do not violate the defendant's constitutional rights. Id. also Power v. State, 886 So.2d 952, 957 (Fla. 2004); Sweet v. Moore, 822 So.2d 1269, 1274 (Fla. 2002); Johnson v. State, 804 So.2d 1218, 1225 (Fla. 2001).

As was the case in <u>Barnhill</u>, Reese does not point to any specific juror misconduct that, if true, would warrant a new trial. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 804 So.2d 1218, 1225 (Fla. 2001) (juror interviews are not permissible unless the moving party has made sworn allegations that, if true, would require the court to order a new trial because the alleged error was so fundamental and prejudicial as to vitiate the entire

proceedings). Instead, Reese's claim is nothing more than a request to investigate possible grounds for finding juror misconduct claims. In light of this court's well-established precedent prohibiting such fishing expeditions, Reese's claim should be denied. Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2000) (finding that a defendant does not have a right to conduct "fishing expedition" interviews with the jurors after a guilty verdict is returned).

ISSUE III

WHETHER EXECUTION BY LETHAL INJECTION CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT

In this claim, Reese alleges that lethal injection is unconstitutional. He acknowledges that this Court's decision in <u>Lightbourne v. McCollum</u>, 969 So.2d 326 (Fla. 2007) precludes relief on his claim which raises nothing more than an attack on the most recent Department of Corrections lethal injection protocols which this Court in <u>Lightbourne</u> ruled were constitutional.⁹

Reese alleges he raised this claim only because the United States Supreme Court has not yet decided Hill v. Crosby, 547 U.S. 573 (2006). (IB 48). While the State agrees that this Court's decision in Lightbourne precludes relief, Reese is mistaken that the United States Supreme Court has not decided Hill. Indeed, the United States decided Hill in June 2006, almost two years before Reese filed his initial brief.

Even if this were not the case, $\underline{\text{Hill}}$ has no relevance to Reese's appeal from the denial of a motion for post-conviction

As Reese acknowledges, his claim is without merit because this Court in Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So.2d 326 (Fla. 2007) and Schwab v. State, 973 So.2d 427 (Fla. 2007) ruled that Florida's lethal injection procedures do not violate the Eighth Amendment. Moreover, on April 16, 2008, the United States Supreme Court, in Baze v. Rees, 76 U.S.L.W. 4199 (2008) concluded that Kentucky's three drug protocol, a protocol that essentially mirrors Florida's protocols, did not violate the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. Reese's claim should be denied.

relief because the issue in $\underline{\text{Hill}}$ was not whether lethal injection was constitutional. Instead the issue in $\underline{\text{Hill}}$ was whether a challenge to lethal injection could be raised in a civil action filed pursuant to 42 U.S.C.S. § 1983.

In <u>Hill</u>, the United States Supreme Court ruled that a challenge to Florida's lethal injection protocols could be raised in a claim filed pursuant to 42 U.S.C.S. § 1983 if the petitioner challenged only the particular lethal injection protocol being used by the state and not the validity of lethal injection sentences generally. The Court remanded the case back to the Eleventh Circuit for further consideration.

In turn, the Eleventh Circuit remanded Hill's petition to the district court for consideration of Hill's petition on the Hill v. McDonough, 464 F.3d 1256 (11th Cir. 2006). When the case returned to the district court, Hill filed an amended complaint and request for a preliminary injunction. State filed a response and motion to dismiss. The district court issued an order denying the injunction and dismissing the complaint. Id. Hill appealed and the Eleventh Circuit affirmed concluding that Hill had unreasonably delayed bringing his claim. Hill v. McDonough, 464 F.3d 1256 (11th Cir. 2006). United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review. McDonough, 127 S. Ct. 465 (2006). Hill was executed on September 20, 2006.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER FLORIDA'S PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTIONS VIOLATE THE DICTATES OF THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN CALDWELL V. MISSISSIPPI

In this claim, Reese alleges the jury instructions given to his jury diminished the jury's responsibility toward sentencing, shifted the burden of proof to Reese to demonstrate that life is an appropriate sentence and was premised on unconstitutionally vague and overbroad aggravators. (IB 50). Reese purports to raise this as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to these "unconstitutional instructions." Reese can show deficient performance for failing to object only if he demonstrates the instructions, about which he complains, are indeed unconstitutional. 11

Reese points to two instructions about which he takes issue. The first is the jury instructions that inform the jury that "... it is your duty to advise the court as to what punishment should be imposed upon the Defendant for the crime of first degree murder. (IB 50). Reese claims this instruction unconstitutionally diminishes the jury's sense of responsibility

Reese does not identify the aggravator instructions he claims were vague and overbroad.

To the extent Reese attempts to raise this as a substantive issue, the claim is procedurally barred as it could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S 735 (Fla. November 15, 2007)

toward sentencing in violation of the dictates of <u>Caldwell v.</u> Mississippi, 472 U.S. 220 (1985).

The second is the instruction which advises the jury that before recommending death, it must find that there are sufficient aggravating circumstances to warrant imposition of the death penalty. (IB 51). Reese claims this instruction unconstitutionally shifts the burden to Reese to prove that life is an appropriate sentence. (IB 51).

Reese's claim must fail because this Court has consistently rejected claims that the standard penalty phase jury instructions violate the dictates of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>. Likewise, this Court has rejected, on many occasions, claims that the standard jury instructions shift the burden to the defendant to demonstrate that life is an appropriate sentence.

In Barnhill v. State, 971 So.2d 106 (Fla. 2007), the defendant raised the same claims as Reese does here. Barnhill argued the penalty phase jury instructions violated the Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments because diminished the jury's responsibility, shifted the burden of proof to Barnhill, and were premised on unconstitutionally vaque and overbroad aggravators. Additionally, Barnhill argued counsel rendered ineffective assistance by not litigating and preserving these issues. This Court denied Barnhill's claim, repeatedly held the noting that it has standard jury

instructions fully advise the jury of the importance its role, correctly state the law, do not denigrate the role of the jury and do not shift the burden to prove death is the appropriate sentence. Id. See also Miller v. State, 926 So.2d 1243, 1257 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting the claim that the jury instructions dilute the jury's sense of responsibility); Rodriguez v. State, 919 So.2d 1252, 1280 (Fla. 2005) (rejecting the claim that the standard jury instructions impermissibly shift the burden to the defendant to prove that death is not the appropriate sentence); Card v. State, 803 So.2d 613, 628 (Fla. 2001) (finding the decision in Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S. Ct. 2633, 86 L. Ed. 2d 231 (1985), not applicable in Florida); Brown v. State, 721 So.2d 274, 283 (Fla. 1998) (finding the standard jury instructions fully advise the jury of the importance of its role, correctly state the law, and do not denigrate the role of the jury); San Martin v. State, 705 So.2d 1337, 1350 n.5 (Fla. 1997) (concluding that the weighing provisions of Florida's death penalty statute and the accompanying jury instructions do not unconstitutionally shift the burden of proof).

As none of the instructions about which Reese complains are unconstitutional, trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise a meritless claim. <u>Suggs v. State</u>, 923 So.2d 419, 437 (Fla. 2005)(trial counsel not ineffective for failing

to object to valid standard jury instructions). Reese's claim should be denied.

ISSUE V

WHETHER CUMULATIVE ERROR DEPRIVED REESE OF A FAIR TRIAL

Reese's claim of cumulative error must fail because Reese has failed to prove any of his individual claims of error. If, after analyzing the individual issues that Reese raises on appeal, the alleged errors are either meritless, procedurally barred, or do not meet the Strickland standard for ineffective assistance of counsel, there can be no cumulative error. Because Reese's allegations of individual errors are without merit, his contention of cumulative error is similarly without merit. Griffin v. State, 866 So.2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003) ("Because the alleged individual errors are without merit, the contention of cumulative error is similarly without merit, and [the defendant] is not entitled to relief on this claim.").

ISSUE VI

WHETHER REESE'S SENTENCE TO DEATH WAS IMPOSED IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN RING V. ARIZONA

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